
 
 

 
Peoples Church Board of Trustees  

Meeting Minutes, September 2016 
Page 1 

PCUU Board of Trustees Monthly Meeting Minutes 
PCUU Board of Trustees Monthly Meeting Minutes 
September 18, 2016 
Called to order at 12:35 PM. 
Present: Robyn Miessler-Kubanek, President; Scott Gay, Vice-President, Kathy Juba, Secretary; 
Scott Mansfield; Geoff Johnson; Jamie Zaruba, Rev. Rebecca Hinds 
Absent: Gary McGraw, Treasurer (Written report shared); Kathleen Watson. 
Regular Agenda items:  
I.       August Minutes:   

Motion to accept:  Scott G. Second: Scott M. Passed 
I I.   Regular Agenda 

Minister’s report:   
Rebecca would like to find a nice table for the candles used during Sunday services.  She 
would also like to enlist volunteers for various projects around the church building.  She 
will check with Marion Patterson and Lance Maynard for their input and assistance.  
Transition Committee: Geoff Johnson should also be listed on the Transition 
Committee.  Scott M. said Marcy Mattison also agreed to be on it.   
The Board discussed questions from the Minister’s Report: 
1. What is the policy regarding non-profit groups “tabling” on Sunday mornings? and 4. 
Is there someone who knows the history of the Building Rental Policy? 
 The church has had a group on a few rare occasions during Tom Capo’s ministry. In 
regards to the question asked about who makes the decision on who can/can’t be here, 
Rebecca will continue working with Pam to develop a recommendation. 
2. Shall we put a sign up outside that says, “No guns allowed”? and 3. Do we need a 
Church Safety Policy? Because there are mass shootings in the world in churches, the 
Board agreed that we need a policy to cover such situations. The Board decided to offer 
a Congregational Feedback Forum on October 23, at 10:00 AM, in the Ely Room to 
decide whether to put "No Guns Allowed" stickers on the doors of our building. 
DRE Report:    
In responding to a question regarding neighborhood involvement in the block party held 
at the church in September, Jamie reported that some neighborhood people did 
come. Jamie also stated that he is trying to increase People’s communication with the 
neighborhood.  Jamie did not yet have a total amount made on the block party to 
report. 
Treasurer’s Report:  Reviewed. 
Church Administrator Report:  Reviewed. 
 
 



 
 

 
Peoples Church Board of Trustees  

Meeting Minutes, September 2016 
Page 2 

III. Follow-up 
Tree report discussion from July meeting 
The board approved Rich Patterson to contact ITC to remove the one ash tree under the 
power line if they would do it for free.  Kathy moved. Geoff seconded. Passed. 

IV. Developmental Ministry Discussion 
Report on Developmental Ministry Training from Rev. Rebecca 
At the Developmental Minister Training that Rebecca attended in August, she felt that 
she received excellent information, including learning about best practices for a 
developmental minister coming into a congregation.  Rebecca had a chance to meet 
with Dori Thexton and begin to make plans for Peoples. Peoples has already begun work 
on Goals of Transitional Ministry.   
Discuss dates for first Developmental Ministry workshop 
Nov. 18 and 19, 2016.  Friday evening (Nov. 18) following a potluck, Dori Thexton will 
hold a congregational question and answer session. On Saturday (Nov. 19), Dori will 
meet with the Board. Rebecca will ask Dori for a description of the workshop that we 
can use in publicizing the event. 
Address Developmental Ministry Goal 1: Governance: Discuss what we know about church 
governance, Peoples’ governance, and what we need to do 
What we know about People’s governance:  
We don’t currently have a committee on ministry or a program council.   
The Board reviewed a document Robyn obtained from Heather Dee that the Board had 
worked on several years ago and compared it to what our governance structure is now 
which is quite different.  Robyn sees that people took the time to develop a governance 
document and then forgotten.  How does it become a part of the church and not get 
lost? 
For learning about church governance, Rebecca suggested the Board read the book 
Governance and Ministry by Dan Hotchkiss. (Rebecca emailed a copy of “Chap. 8: 
Exploring Governance Change” to all Board members.) A potential additional resource 
from the UUA website is a “Governance for UUA Congregations” document.  Robyn will 
read it and let the Board know if there are parts the rest of the Board should know. 
Looking at strategies and tactics listed for the Governance developmental ministry 
goal, Rebecca sees the “Research church governance best practices” as a year long 
process.  Rebecca suggests going to the church governance section of the UUA website 
and looking at star churches governance.   
Robyn suggested possibly in December giving the congregation information on church 
governance, then at the May meeting presenting the new model.  The Board needs to 
consider: How will improving our governance benefit the church?  What is the goal? 



 
 

 
Peoples Church Board of Trustees  

Meeting Minutes, September 2016 
Page 3 

Rebecca suggested that by May we could have a model of what we want to try and then 
next year do a test run.   
Rebecca also suggested adding a strategy to those already listed for Governance. 
Between the second and third strategies, add a statement that says “Draft a governance 
model that we want to try, and then implement it.  In year 3, if we like it, make it 
permanent.”   
Robyn charged the Board to think about what is working and what is not working at Peoples and 
bring those reflections to the next Board meeting.   
 

V. Updates 
 Pledge Campaign: Robyn said the most recent information was in the most recent Voice.   

Building Energy Audit: Kathy shared the results of the recent energy audit of the church 
by Alliant Energy.  (MidAmerican was not included because one was done 4+ years ago 
by them and they require five years between audits.  The gentleman doing the audit 
said he gave us recommendations as if MidAmerican were included as he would very 
likely be the person who would do it.  Five years would be Nov. of this year.)  
Recommendations were to install Energy star rated LED lamps/fixtures in all lights and 
to upgrade current AC to high efficiency models with a SEER of 14.5 or higher, as our 
current units are low efficiency and past their recommended life expectancy.  A 
committee is needed to take on organizing for building and grounds kinds of issues, such 
as the energy audit results.  Robyn will put out a request for a person to head up such a 
committee. 

 
VI. New Business 

Membership Committee: Robyn reports that the membership committee is stumped by 
getting people to greet and what to focus their energies on.  Robyn wants to talk about 
membership at an upcoming Board meeting.  

 
  
Adjourned: Motion made by Scott G. Second: Kathy. Passed. 2:41PM 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Kathy Juba, Secretary 
 



September 2016 Board Report 
Rev. Rebecca Hinds 

 
My primary task for the last six weeks has been to simply meet people and get to know Peoples 
Church. I have had wonderful meetings with all the PC Board Members and most of the PC 
Committees and/or Committee chairs. These include Finance, Stewardship,Worship, Social 
Justice, Membership, Paraministers and Music. I have yet to meet with Archives, Buildings and 
Grounds, Communications, and the Van Vechten Guild and plan to do so in the next month. I am 
excited to begin working with the Transition Team which will include Bryan Davis, Rich 
Patterson, Marcia Swift, Sam Wilson and myself.  
 
I have also been particularly focused this past six weeks on worship planning (developing an 
Order of Service and working with the Worship Associates) and staff management (building 
relationships with the staff and establishing mechanisms for accountability and success 
measurement).  
 
I am curious about finding ways to make the chancel in the sanctuary more beautiful and 
inviting. Perhaps we could find a really nice table for the candles? If anyone is interested in 
working on this with me, let me know! 
 
In August I attended a UUA-sponsored training on Transitional Ministry. This training helped 
me focus on the basics and goals of transitional ministry.  I particularly appreciate this goal 
summary from the Alban publication, Critical Moment of Ministry: 
 

1. Coming to terms with history.  
2. Discovering a new identity.  
3. Allowing needed leadership to emerge.  
4. Renewing denominational linkages.  
5. Committing to new directions in ministry.  

 
At this training I connected with Dori Thexton from the MidAmerica Region. Dori reminded me 
of all that the MidAmerica Region of the UUA has to offer our congregation. MidAmerica will 
offer the following to the Developmental Congregations: 
 

• Initial start-up workshop with minister and governing board (we need to schedule this!) 
• Quarterly check-ins (virtual, conference call, etc.) 
• Once a year in-person weekend with workshop, meeting with minister and board, 

possibly preaching, and including the annual review 
• Available for consultation throughout the year by phone, email, etc. 

 
Questions: 

• What is the policy regarding Non-profit groups “tabling” on Sunday mornings?  
• Shall we put a sign up outside that says, “no guns allowed”? 
• Do we need a Church Safety Policy?  
• Is there someone who knows the history of the Building Rental Policy? 



Jamie Ray Zaruba 

DRE Board Report September 2016 
  
What's going on in RE 
  

• We headed a fundraiser in the form of a yard sale with all the proceeds going 
back to the church. Raising $197 

• We offered Babysitting Date night for our members from 6pm-10pm in the 
nursery the last Saturday of August raising $51. 

• Teacher Training after Church went well covering our expectations for this 
upcoming year 

• Our Whole Lives had 12 students sign up to date 
• We successfully conducted our first annual Block Party/Fair with some good 

participation by our congregants. We did have some traffic from outside of the 
church, but our name was spread throughout the community via Radio, Flyers 
handed out and having participating in a Parade. 

• My office hours changed with the beginning of the RE year. 
• Working on our RE web page updates, and RE Calendar through Aug 2017 

  
RE Council Members 
Co-Chairs: Deb Maynard & Amber Todd 

Arianne Waseen 
Jennifer Brade 
Tristan Maynard 
Sherri Martin 
Danny Booth 
Jack Primmer-Tamayo 

 
Coming Events 

• September 14th Adult RE Class Begins at 7pm-8pm 
• September 18th RE Classes for youth begin for the year at 11am. 

Multi-generational services begin Grade school children attend whole service 
• September 21st Middle School OWL Parent Meeting 6pm-9pm 
• September 25th Middle School OWL classes begin 9:15am -10:45am 
• September 28th Adult RE Class 7pm-8pm 
• October 1st Date Night 6pm-10pm 
• October 9th Pancake Breakfast for Boston 

 
Keep on Rocking! 
 



Peoples Church Unitarian Universalist 
Administrator’s Report for August 2016  

Submitted September 2016 by Pamela Edwards 
 
ATTENDANCE 

July 2016       August 2016 
      7-3 Picnic 8-7 73 
      7-10 17 8-14 37 
      7-17 27 8-21 53 
      7-24 45 8-28 40 
      7-31 30   
Average  30 Average 51 

 

2016 NEW SUNDAY VISITORS IN AUGUST  

Number of new visitors: 6 
Found PCUU by: 

• Faith Explorers 
• Deb Maynard 
• Internet 
• Didn’t say 
• Curiosity. He’s a spiritual seeker.  
• Internet 

BUILDING & GROUNDS                                                                                                                                
Much time, discussion, measuring and testing has been spent on re-striping the parking-lot.  
The existing stripes appear to date from the 1980s and are not up to ADA code.  Bill Hart has 
taken the lead on this project, with much helpful input from other members.  In the summer 
heat, Bill has pulled the weeds sprouting through the cement cracks. He really can use help with 
the uncomfortable (lots of kneeling) task of painting the new stripes.  This is at least two-person 
job.  If anyone is willing to help, please contact Bill.   

Kathy Juba scheduled an August 18 energy assessment with Alliant Energy.  (Copies are 
available from Kathy).  Bill Hart helped the Alliant rep with the assessment.   We received a 
number of free LED light bulbs from Alliant which will replace burned out bulbs.                                         



“The Case of the Peoples Mystery Mower.”  Lyle Broer is our contract mower.  I booked him 
recently.  However, someone had already mowed the lawn when Lyle arrived with his truck, 
lawn mower and assistant.  (The lawn has been mowed several times this year by an 
anonymous person).   While it’s nice that our “mystery mower” is helping out, it wastes the 
time, energy and gas of our contract mower, Lyle.  If anyone knows who our “mystery mower” 
is, please notify the office.                                                                                                         

The first floor bathroom renovation has been completed, except for installing a new baseboard.  
A great improvement! 

Kathleen Watson put a great deal of time into cleaning and re-organizing the Ely Room 
kitchenette. 

MEETING SPACE 

Rev Rebecca has requested that meetings not be held in her office unless she attends those 
meetings.      

MEMBERSHIP 

In a letter dated Sept. 2, 2016, Ann & Wayne Scott resigned their membership.  They have 
moved to Florida permanently.   

OFFICE DETAILS 

After requesting the Fall schedule of each church group, much time has been spent setting up 
the new church year calendar. 

MINISTER TRANSITION 

In August, transitioning Rev Rebecca into Peoples Church began in earnest.  Much time was 
spent in office and personnel details:  getting keys/door codes, setting up payroll, booking 
meetings with church groups (thank you, Robyn!), helping her with the initial queries every new 
minister has, creating new procedures, etc.  This process will be on-going for some weeks.      



Report on trees present on Peoples Church property 
Submitted via email by Rich Patterson, February 2016 
 
Bryan, Rev Jeff, Robyn, 
 
Before today's service I inspected the three mature trees on Peoples Church land. All are close 
to Gordon Drive. Here is my analysis: 
 
We have two healthy ash trees of young middle age.  No sign of Emerald Ash Borer.   We also 
own one Norway Maple that is old and in decline but certainly not dying.    
 
Here is how I'd approach a decision on what to do with the ash trees.  We have three options: 
 
1.  Remove the trees in anticipation of their likely infestation by borers. 
2.  Treat the trees to prevent infestation 
3.  Leave trees but plan to remove them at the first sign of infestation. 
 
I favor option 3.  The ash borer has been documented in trees at the I-380 rest stop near the 
airport but nowhere else. It could take several years for the infestation to reach Gordon 
Avenue.   
 
It is highly likely that ash borer will eventually kill these trees.   Also, the maple will need to be 
removed, perhaps in five years. So, I'd put tree removal in the long term budget and keep an 
eye on the ash for signs of infestation. 
 
There is room on Peoples land near Gordon Avenue to plant a couple of young trees. If they 
were planted this spring or fall they would have a couple of years to get established before the 
older trees go. Perhaps work in an Arbor Day service and tree planting. 
 
*** 
 
Additional note from March 2016 Board Meeting Minutes: 
 
• One of the ash trees is under the power lines and has been trimmed by ITC many times, so 

it’s possible that ITC will remove this tree at no cost to the church to avoid future trimming 
costs. 

 
Note: With Board approval, Rich is willing to contact ITC to inquire about tree removal. 



Governance for Unitarian 
Universalist 

Congregations  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

New Congregation and Growth Resources 
Unitarian Universalist Association 

2005 



Governance for Unitarian Universalist Congregations 2 

 
 

Table of Contents 
 
 
Introduction 2 
 
The Need for Thoughtful Governance Selection 2 
 
Historical Authority 3 
 
The Practicalities of Governance 6 
 
Governance Documents 6 
 
Practical Decision Making 9 
 
Governance and Size 10 
 
Governance Issues Characterized by Congregation Size 15 
 
Humanity of Governing 18 
 
 

Topic Boxes, Diagrams, and Charts 
 
Characteristics of Decentralized Governance 8 
 
The Congregational Board as a "Small Group" of the Congregation 10 
 
Church Size Typologies 11 
 
Governance Issues Characterized by Congregation Size 13 
 
Less Policy Can Be Good Policy 16 
 
Important note for searching UUA.org: All UUA resources mentioned are available 
in the Leaders section of the web site, in the Leaders’ Library. Please use quotes around 
the title when you search to bring up the resource or item you seek.



Governance for Unitarian Universalist Congregations 3 

Introduction 
 
Governance is the system by which a congregation exercises its authority. A 
congregation may use any system to govern itself; it may change systems frequently or 
entirely ignore the systems it claims as its own, but as long as the congregation lives, it 
will continue to exercise authority.  
 
Many times, people take governance choices for granted. Because of their long 
tradition of universal suffrage, U.S. citizens may expect that everything will be 
put to a vote of the membership. Liberal religious communities with an emphasis 
on participation may assume that all decisions should be made by consensus. 
Still other congregations, eager to be relieved of leadership demands, may be 
anxious to hand over almost all the authority to a board or minister. Often, 
congregations learn the full consequences of choosing a particular form of 
governance only later, when they appear amidst conflict. Congregations can be 
surprised to discover how meaningful the issues of governance are to them. In a 
1997 study of polity, the Commission on Appraisal of the Unitarian Universalist 
Association, in Interdependence: Renewing Congregational Polity (Boston: 
Unitarian Universalist Association, 1997, Section One: Theological Perspective, 
sub-section: Six Propositions for Theological Reflection, Expanding Our Concept 
of Governance, Paragraph 2), wrote: 

 
The complexity arises because of questions of governance involve 
ontological, ethical, and political questions (i.e., questions of ultimate 
reality, questions of the good that ought to direct our actions, and 
questions of forms of government and social power). Questions of polity 
move us beyond practical concerns to concerns of basic outlook, beliefs, 
or value commitments.  
 
 
 

The Need for Thoughtful Governance Selection 
 
Although it may sound like dreary stuff, the choice of a good system of governance 
actually offers many wonderful benefits and is well worth the time and attention of all 
congregations. The benefits include the following: 

• Providing continuity through hard times. 
• Maintaining a framework insuring that all members will be represented. 
• Offering stimulation for meaningful member participation. 
• Creating methods for urgent action that can foster responsiveness. 
• Building in methods of review to help avoid unproductive reactivity among 

members. 
• Allowing leadership to be transferred with continuity. 



Governance for Unitarian Universalist Congregations 4 

• Shaping the identity of the congregation as a "reasoned body." 
• Fostering community when carried out with care. 
• Clarifying and justifying the authority vital to taking initiative. 
• Making internal lines of authority clear and accessible to individuals outside the 

church community. 
• Adding transparency to decision making. 
• Protecting leaders by providing a basis for insuring their actions. 

 
Governance is also a necessary investment so that the congregation is be able to do the 
following: 

• Form a legal entity. 
• Apply for not-for-profit religious status (effecting tax deductibility of pledges and 

other assets). 
• Find insurance. 
• Establish financial accounts and credit. 
• Show good faith in its fiduciary (trustee) issues. 

  
Historical Authority 
Governance is a solid word (derived from Middle English) suggesting that a 
congregation will seek a way of running itself that is appropriate, reliable, fair, and 
understandable to all involved. The congregation will hold excesses in check; just 
process will be honored. Another word used frequently by Unitarian Universalists to 
describe a selected way of applying authority is polity. That word comes from the Greek 
word for "citizen government," and Unitarian Universalists often pair it with 
congregational, as in congregational polity. These words are used together because it 
was once unique for a religious group to have authority over itself. Congregational 
polity became a phrase to denote a free church—one without ecclesial hierarchy and, 
consequentially, one on its own, responsible for its own survival. If Unitarian 
Universalists had to choose the most accurate word to describe our governance or 
polity, we would have to choose congregational. 
 
The two faith traditions that merged in 1961—the Unitarian and Universalist traditions—
each had its own history, yet shared in the tradition of congregational polity. The 
Unitarians and Universalists each arose from Protestant lineage, specifically the 
Protestant Radical Reformation wing. When Protestantism was emerging, most 
followers went from one hierarchical church polity (Catholicism) to another hierarchy, 
be it Lutheran or Anglican. These churches were organized much as the Catholic Church 
was, with regional bishops and fairly centralized church authority.  
 
Later, other thoughts on organization emerged when specific churches declared 
themselves self-ruled. The members of these churches feared being led astray in their 
desire to lead a holy life and preferred to be accountable only to God and one another. 
These piety-seeking Protestants were seen as radicals by Protestants and Catholics 
alike. As one might anticipate, in their isolation, they were often unique in their religious 



Governance for Unitarian Universalist Congregations 5 

practices, and their fortunes varied according to how threatening they were to political 
and other church authority.  
 
When a group of piety seekers struggled with the "papishness" (similarity to 
Catholicism) of the Church of England, they feared for their eternal souls lest they 
remain in church hierarchy. Although membership in (or at least attendance at) the 
church was expected of all citizens, these scripture-focused Christians found the Church 
of England ritual too rich for decent sensibility and its visual art the equal of graven 
(immoral) images. They were called Puritans for their belief that religion must rightfully 
seek simplicity in doctrine and worship. Seeking a place of freedom to live out those 
Radical Reformation principles, they sought a royal charter forming a corporation for 
colonial development. The area of their grant was Massachusetts Bay. Hoping to leave 
hierarchy behind them forever, they sailed off and began to select their own 
governance.  
 
Puritan choice of governance was based upon their shared theology and their 
admiration of the early Christian community. They formed a polity in which the adult 
male laity of their common church administered the king’s charter. Each had a vote and 
a share in the corporation (our first impulse to democracy) that the king had granted. 
Political life and church life were one. They were a theocracy, run by theological 
principle. They were used to theocracies, as their native land of Britain was one. 
Governance, education, and taxes were overseen through the parish. In effect, the 
parish was the local governmental unit. This alliance of civic governance with church 
governance came to be known as the Standing Order and was to be challenged later by 
both the Universalists and, later still, the Unitarians.  
 
Even as they empowered their congregations, these citizens feared church hierarchy. 
They wanted to retain for themselves the local authority over worship and doctrine. 
They took care in forming their churches, spending a long time in conversation about 
how they understood their own authority. In her wonderful Minns Lectures, The Lay 
and Liberal Doctrine of the Church: The Spirit and the Promise of Our Covenant, the 
Reverend Alice Blair Wesley describes how the church of Dedham, Massachusetts, met 
weekly from the winter of 1637 until November 1638, each meeting examining a 
question on which everyone reflected and that the participants described as “very 
peaceable, loving, & tender, much to edification.” From this care to establish a common 
basis by which they could "walk together," they voluntarily joined themselves, forming 
themselves as a "free church" with no authority other than their free election to be 
gathered together.  
 
This vision of the free church was accountable to no other body. Basing themselves in 
their understanding of the New Testament, they wrote in 1648 of the primacy of the 
congregation in their primary document,The Cambridge Platform: (edited by Henry 
Wilder Foote, The Cambridge Platform of 1648, Tercentenary Commemoration at 



Governance for Unitarian Universalist Congregations 6 

Cambridge, Massachusetts, October 27, 1948 Boston: Beacon Press and Pilgrim Press, 
1949).   

Nor can it with reason be thought but that every church appointed and 
ordained by Christ, had a ministry appointed and ordained for the same, 
and yet plain it is that there were no ordinary officers appointed by Christ 
for any other than congregational churches; elders being appointed to 
feed not all flocks, but the particular flock of God, over which the Holy 
Ghost had made them overseers, and that flock they must attend, even 
the whole flock; and one congregation being as much as any ordinary 
elders can attend, therefore there is no greater church than a 
congregation which may ordinarily meet in one place. 
 

Over time, these Puritans came to be known by their polity and were called 
Congregationalists. From that rootstock, liberal Congregationalists later came to be 
known as Unitarians.  
 
Our Universalist forebears did not seek uniformity in polity. In the earliest days, the 
1770s and 1780s, they were often from congregationally oriented Baptist traditions. 
Governance generally originated in the congregation according to needs. A fast-paced 
pattern of Universalist growth lead to the formation of churches governed in various 
ways, so no one style of governance emerged.  
 
The Universalists stood outside the mainstream of the Standing Order, a system they 
challenged. Using legal means, they were successful in challenging the established 
Congregational Church. This was a great advance in religious liberty. Once vindicated in 
that challenge, the New England Universalists set about gathering as a "convention" to 
unify and promote their faith. Although they were largely advisory, conventions later 
would confer fellowship and ordination. Further organization led to the formation of 
state conventions after 1825. Universalist historian Russell E. Miller, in The Larger Hope 
(Boston: Unitarian Universalist Association, 1979), wrote of the organizing forces at 
work in Universalism:  

Almost every step in the erratic evolution of a coherent and identifiable 
organization came quite pragmatically. Very little advance planning was 
evident, particularly in the early years; solutions to problems of 
organization and cooperation were arrived at on an ad hoc basis, forced 
by specific exigencies. 

 
When the two traditions, Unitarian and Universalist, merged in 1961, a commission 
formed to study governance. The commission searched the respective histories and 
found three commonalities:  

• Final authority lies with the individual. 
• The essential autonomy of the local church is a given.  
• Autonomous churches must come together in free association.  



Governance for Unitarian Universalist Congregations 7 

These values remain common among us today. Membership is voluntary. It does not 
happen by birth or geography. Members join a voluntary association in which the 
ultimate authority for their religious decisions rests with the individual. When we 
welcome new members to our congregations, we seek to include, but never to coerce, 
them. The act of choosing one's religious home remains essential in a free church. 
Individuals who join us thereby embrace the mission and fellowship, committing 
themselves to our common community.  

Because the congregation is essentially autonomous, it is guided by egalitarian and 
democratic values. No one person is above the others. All members are a part of the 
governing process. The congregation as a body is the highest authority in its own 
governance structure, with powers and accountability delegated to the board for 
greater agility of action. The autonomy of our congregational polity frees us not to 
avoid authority but to create it ethically within our community. We are free to discern 
for ourselves the best common means to exercise our religious freedom. Through 
careful listening, thoughtful evaluation, and respectful relation, we seek high purpose 
and the deep commitment necessary to transform ourselves, our community, and our 
world. If we confuse our freedom from external authority with freedom from 
accountability, we fool ourselves and damage our relations to the larger Unitarian 
Universalist community.  

The relationships among autonomous Unitarian Universalist communities are also 
voluntary associations. From the earliest times, congregations would meet to confer and 
advise on matters of importance. They would gather in synods, conferences on matters 
deemed essential to their common interest. They would gather on market days to 
reflect upon the sermons they heard and, no doubt, to compare the preaching of their 
respective ministers. Because we share our heritage, Unitarian Universalist identity, 
congregational polity, and the challenge of being religiously liberal, we are related one 
to another. Ours is a common religious proposition, and each congregation is inevitably 
related to a larger whole. Our free association, particularly our district and Unitarian 
Universalist Association, is simply a formal recognition of that reality. Therefore, care in 
those relations is essential to the health of each single congregation.  

Even the smallest of congregations can, with a few keystrokes, learn more, do more, 
and be more in our movement. Indeed, participation in the larger Unitarian Universalist 
community offers many resources and benefits for those struggling with the limited 
resources and nascent strengths of smaller congregations. Having a mentor 
congregation, of slightly larger size and embodying healthy congregational practice, is 
one of the best methods for enhancing congregational learning. 

Our longstanding ideal of freely gathered congregations that are autonomous yet fondly 
related gives hope for realizing the potential of our liberal religion. Ours should be a 
powerful transformative faith in the lives of individual Unitarian Universalists and in the 
larger world. The governance of each congregation should honor and work to make 
that hope visible in the world. 



Governance for Unitarian Universalist Congregations 8 

The Practicalities of Governance 
 
Governance Documents 
 
Congregations that are forming usually give governance planning a low priority. 
Founding documents are often "borrowed" from other congregations or derived from 
bylaw models available through the Unitarian Universalist Association. This approach is 
understandable, given the urgent demands of emerging congregations. And for many 
existing congregations, the passion of the free church heritage has been smothered by 
legalese and indifference. Where once existed charters in which founders testified to 
their longing to create a beloved community, now are found lifeless manuals on voting 
qualifications and procedures. Yet the opportunity to create and renew vital governing 
agreements strengthens identity and brings members together with greater potential 
for caring community.  
 
It is possible to have proper legal documents and yet to include clear and inspiring 
statements that reflect the spirit of the congregation and its reason for existence. 
Include words that inspire and support the community experience. In preambles, insert 
meaningful phrases that frame what will follow and ennoble the purpose of the rules 
that follow. Even bylaws can become living sources of guidance and renewal when they 
are created authentically in community.  
 
Our liberal religious communities fare best when everyone is empowered. Of course, all 
organizations need some centralization for coordination and efficiency, and to foster 
synergies. However, congregations should support decentralization of decision making 
and action wherever possible. Such decentralization is common in smaller 
congregations, guided as they often are by individual initiative. Sometimes 
congregations lose this empowerment, however, when the habit of checking every 
decision with the minister or board emerges with growth. It is true that the growth of 
any organization increases the complexity of effects. In other words, the 
"interdependent web" experienced in the congregation multiplies the effects and the 
number of people affected. Still, this increasing complexity need not steal initiative. 
Congregational leadership can intentionally foster an atmosphere in which all are invited 
to lead and participate. In a climate where innovation and individual initiative occur in a 
clear framework of mission, more people are freed to act congruent to the stated 
purposes of the congregation. 
 
The mission, the statement of congregational purpose developed and affirmed by the 
congregation, must be a living document. It should be known by all, be relevant to all, 
and be a practical working document for all to use as they engage in the life of the 
congregation. The mission then becomes an organizing principle of governance—a 
commitment to a shared purpose, akin to a covenant. That covenant then guides 
decision making and leaves members of the community free to apply their own reason 
and experience to the situation at hand. 



Governance for Unitarian Universalist Congregations 9 

 
Characteristics of Decentralized Governance 

 
1. Be Guided by Mission  
 
The mission of a congregation is its reason for existing. The mission matters more than 
form, historical precedent, or personal preference. Try to see things through the lens of 
the mission, and if in doubt, ask, "How do you see this relating to our mission?" before 
assuming something does not.  
 
2. Push Decisions toward Practice 
 
Whenever practical, encourage individuals undertaking projects to make decisions 
regarding those projects. Leaders feel much happier with their service when they can 
take into account the context in which the decisions will be applied. Encourage 
everyone to use the mission as a guide and to take initiative.  
 
3. Encourage Conversations on Learnings 
 
Create an atmosphere in which people value learning highly. Disappointments are signs 
of stretching and growing in a congregation. New undertakings will require experiments 
and even failure. If we only do what we know we will always succeed in doing, we are 
not trying enough new things! Be a learning organization. 
 
4. Create Roles Limited Only by Necessary Coordination 
 
Tell committee chairs and staff that they are free to pursue their piece of the mission 
and to yield that freedom only when coordination is required. Make coordination easy 
by having mailing lists and calendar management in one place that is accessible by all 
leaders.  
 
5. Feed the Loop  
 
Nothing will stop effective decentralization faster than a failure to communicate. 
Decentralized decision making without a feedback loop is really unaccountable 
autonomy. When people make decisions or undertake actions without communication of 
the process and results, it keeps everyone in the dark. Everyone is disempowered. Even 
wild successes need communication to be understood and valued. Adding even ten 
minutes of reflection time for participants at the end of an event or project, and then 
having participants report on their discoveries, generates increased learning for the 
whole congregation. 

 



Governance for Unitarian Universalist Congregations 10 

Practical Decision Making 
 
How a congregation makes decisions should reflect all the characteristics of a free 
church. Respectful participation, democratic values, and reference to common principles 
and mission should be common in our practices and most clearly evident in 
congregational meetings. A congregation generally has only a few of these meetings in 
a year. In particular, holding the annual meeting is a customary practice that powerfully 
"commissions" leadership to direct the undertakings of the congregation.  
 
Usually, the election of both board members and officers, as well as the approval of 
budgets, is a part of the annual meeting. In selecting who will represent the 
congregation and the means by which it will operate, the congregation exercises its 
authority in support of a plan (explicit or not) for the near future. Deliberations at the 
annual meeting should follow the principle of seeking the common good  The meeting 
should also provide clear authority to the elected leaders to carry out the will of the 
congregation between congregational meetings. The annual meeting should be a 
mandate of care and is best embodied by an informed "followership" that respects its 
leaders.  
 
The congregation should take care to include minority voices in considering important 
issues. Often these sources contain wisdom that the group has not previously 
considered. However, it is human nature to focus upon the familiar and the near at 
hand. This focus may lead us to ignore perspectives and wisdom from different 
cultures, classes, sexual identities, or racial identities. It is a healthy practice to appoint 
a process observer to any decision-making body. This observer can point out habits that 
disempower minorities, the young, the old, newcomers, or individuals who are culturally 
different from the majority of members. A process observer can reflect upon what is 
happening constructively to ensure that the meeting process includes and fully 
considers all participants.  
 
In any decision-making process, emotions can harm or ennoble. Participants can lift up 
and redeem a discussion or embitter it with judgment and disrespect. It is up to the 
congregation to establish a culture in which healthy practices are the norm in decision 
making. Sometimes this is best accomplished by the establishment of a Covenant of 
Right Relations or some other document stating the congregation's intention to adhere 
to respectful and caring processes through specific means and principles of action. For 
further information on covenants, please refer to the resource Vision, Mission, and 
Covenant: Creating a Future Together, at UUA.org by going to the Leaders’ Library and 
by searching “Vision, Mission, Covenant.”* 



Governance for Unitarian Universalist Congregations 11 

 
The Congregational Board as a "Small Group" of the Congregation 

Charles Arn, an expert on congregational growth, suggests that boards see themselves 
as a small group or "covenant group" within the larger congregation’s program of small 
group ministry, or covenant groups. The suggestion is likely to draw a hearty laugh 
from those boards who linger over their agendas after 11 p.m. Arn says that is exactly 
the problem: Boards cannot work together effectively because the members understand 
one another too little. He suggests including opportunities for deeper sharing, times of 
silence, and attention to group process that invite participation from all.  
 
In our Unitarian Universalist faith, a chalice lighting and a thoughtful reflection upon 
"what we leave behind in order to attend the meeting" can foster a growing 
understanding of our separate lives and challenges. An unhurried reflection upon what 
was difficult or inspiring in the meeting makes for appropriate closure to important 
governance work.  
 
Consider the opportunity for the board to grow in understanding of itself as the ultimate 
exercise of teamwork.  

 
Respectful opinions should be respectfully heard. Still, no one or two persons should 
halt actions that have broad support. All decision making is imperfect. All decisions are 
imperfect. Each member should search his or her heart and mind to discern the truly 
important from the personal preference and should take care to listen with openness 
and to "speak truth with love." Above all, as participants in any decision-making 
endeavor, we should all mentally try on the phrase "I can live with that." Doing so may 
enable us to discover that even difficult outcomes need not define or undermine our 
commitment to our congregation.  
 
Once decisions are made, congregations should make a serious effort to live them out. 
Let them be tried with dullest support and evaluated in fullest fairness. Leaders should 
consider evidence, focus on the positive, improve upon what works, and let go any 
attachment to what does not prove effective. Honest evaluation, then, serves as grist 
for the learning mill. Communicating to the congregation what works and what does not 
work gives leaders an opportunity inform the congregation of meaningful findings so 
that future decision making is enhanced.  
 
Governance and Size 
 
All congregations must understand that the instruments of congregational polity will 
vary with the size of the congregation. The practices of governance must be suited to 
the characteristics of the individual congregation.  
 



Governance for Unitarian Universalist Congregations 12 

In 1983, Arlin Rothauge, an Episcopal minister, found that congregations functioned 
differently according to size (Sizing Up a Congregation for New Ministry [New York: 
Seabury Press, 1983]). Until then, it had been widely assumed that any successful 
program was appropriate for all churches. Rothauge discovered that the reason why 
programs succeeded in one place and not in another was a factor of the dynamics at 
work in congregations. The best predictor of these dynamics was congregational size. 
Rothauge found four size types and documented their size ranges according to Sunday 
attendance:  
 

 
Church Size Typologies 

 
Further studies of congregations have led to the addition of other typologies and 
refinements to Rothauge’s categories, but his insights remain the preferred way of 
viewing congregation types.  
 
Researcher and consultant Alice Mann has thoroughly considered the dynamics of 
congregations of each size and their transitions (see Size Transitions in Unitarian 
Universalist Congregations, at UUA.org by going to the Leaders’ Library and searching 
“Size Transitions”*). Her research and experience suggest that a congregation’s 
governance style and structure will bear the hallmarks of the size "traits" of the 
congregation, and that successful movement from one size type to another requires 
considerable congregational learning. A congregation can become dysfunctional when it 
attempts to keep old styles of functioning at the same time that a size change calls for 
other governance styles more appropriate to the new size. Mann and others remind us 
that congregations may hold onto practices well after they are appropriate. For 
example, a pastoral church that is approaching program status may still be struggling to 
function as a family church. Thus, congregations should perform clear-eyed analysis, 



Governance for Unitarian Universalist Congregations 13 

perhaps involving others outside the congregation, to make sure they undertake only 
one transition at a time.  
 
Mann's research is relevant to governance. Church size will predict which methods and 
practices of governance are most appropriate for a given congregation. A family-size 
congregation may be harmed by the use of governance techniques appropriate for 
program-size congregations. Congregations must follow a philosophy of "right-sized" 
governance. They can govern effectively only if their practices are effective within the 
dynamics of their present size. Trying to force a pastoral-size congregation to function 
as if it were corporate size, for example, is a formula for volunteer burnout. Such a 
church has neither the staff nor the resources to support its practices and will 
eventually experience the failed fruit of overreaching and the loss of size-appropriate 
success. This lesson is important for congregations with new members who are already 
Unitarian Universalists and have come from different-sized congregations. The new 
members may have very different expectations of church because of the shift they 
experience from one size (their former congregation’s size) to another (their new 
congregation’s size).  
 
Congregations, then, must consider key governance issues in light of size dynamics. 
The following chart documents some of the common issues of governance that 
congregations face. It includes size-specific responses, but congregations should not 
regard them as prescriptive. They are typical responses to governance issues. What 
should become clear is that these responses differ greatly according to congregational 
size. A congregation may never experience more than one size category in a human 
lifetime, or it may move through the sizes briskly. Nevertheless, at some point, a 
congregation must move through the issues if its members are to continue learning and 
growing. Congregational life demands adaptation and continual learning if a 
congregation is to continue to be relevant. As Alice Mann has cautioned us in a familiar 
riff on an old prayer, "God grant me the humility to let go of my baggage; the courage 
to act on the basis of my experience; and the wisdom to know the difference" (The In-
Between Church: Navigating Size Transitions in Congregations [Bethesda, MD: Alban 
Institute, 1998]). Please see the following chart where these issues of governance will 
be outlined. The issues are discussed in more detail in the text following the chart. 

 



Governance for Unitarian Universalist Congregations 14 

 

  
Governance Issues Characterized by  

Congregation Size    
Issue Family Size Pastoral Size Program Size Corporate Size 
Authority—In all 
sizes, the 
congregation itself 
is the highest 
authority; from 
there you can see 
how sizes differ in 
delegating 

Collectively 
held, delegated 
to board 

Placed with 
board, 
functionally 
delegated to 
minister 

Board, 
delegated to 
minister and 
delegated 
functionally to 
minister, staff, 
and committee 
chairs  

Board, 
delegated to 
minister–CEO 
(to interpret and 
carry out policy) 
or to minister-
led staff  

Institutional 
focus 

Whole Whole Parts Parts/whole 

Focus issue Continuity Funding Program 
participation 

Authentic policy 

Shadow issue Control Accountability Vitality Relevance 

Process Committee, task 
group and (if 
needed) staff 
meetings, e-
mail "trial 
balloons," 
congregational 
meetings  

Committee, task 
group and staff 
meetings, 
forums, 
seminars, 
congregational 
meetings 

Committee and 
task group 
meetings, staff 
meetings, 
forums, informal 
discussion 
sessions, 
congregational 
meetings, 
councils, 
seminars 

Committee and 
task group 
meetings, staff 
meetings, 
forums, informal 
discussion 
sessions, 
congregational 
meetings, 
councils, 
seminars 

Development 
needs 

Church 
organization, 
hiring, member 
welcome and 
incorporation 

"Best practices"  
for church 
operations, 
organization, 
volunteer 
coordination, 
working with 
ministry and 
staff, visioning 
and multiyear 
planning, 
stewardship 
cultivation 

Committee 
"Best practices," 
strategic 
planning, 
stewardship, 
worship arts, 
governance, 
media relations 

Policy 
Governance 
through staff: 
small group 
ministries, 
stewardship, 
electronic 
communication 
and outreach, 
facilities 
management, 
starting new 
churches 
(church 
planting) 



Governance for Unitarian Universalist Congregations 15 

Documentation Board meeting 
minutes, 
mission, 
sometimes 
bylaws, possibly 
archives 

Committees and 
board minutes, 
mission, goals, 
bylaws, 
multiyear 
planning, 
beginning 
archives 

Committees and 
board minutes, 
mission, vision, 
goals, bylaws, 
strategic 
planning, 
ongoing 
archives 

Committees and 
board minutes, 
mission, vision, 
goals, bylaws, 
strategic 
planning, public 
archives 

Key to action Leaders to 
members 

Leaders to 
group 

Staff to leaders MinisterCEO 
to board, or 
staff to leaders 
or board to 
leaders  

Communication 
methods 

Word of mouth, 
newsletter and 
Web site, 
announcements, 
telephone trees, 
whole-member 
e-mails 

Newsletter, 
orders of 
service, Web 
site, pulpit 
announcements, 
increasing use 
of e-mail by 
board, 
orientations 

Newsletter, 
weekly bulletin 
(in order of 
service), Web 
site, decreased 
pulpit 
announcements, 
special mailings, 
e-mail lists, 
orientations 

Newsletter, 
weekly bulletin 
(in order of 
service), Web 
site, rare 
announcements, 
informational 
meetings, 
special mailings, 
e-mail lists, 
orientations 

Organization 
style 

Informal (family 
norms) 

Informal to 
highly formal, 
but increasingly 
organizationally 
styled 

Established 
formal systems 
of control with 
informality at 
the fringes 

Formal roles for 
board, minister-
CEO, staff, and 
chairs; high 
accountability of 
lay volunteers 

Standards Did we 
succeed? 

Did we—the 
minister and 
community 
members—like 
it? 

Was it 
functional? 

Did it serve our 
ends? 

Evaluative 
method 

Consulting 
member 
preferences 

Anecdotal and 
informal board 
review 

Some 
systematic 
inquiry and 
anecdote 

Board 
evaluation of 
ends achieved, 
staff review of 
means 

Coordination Activist Consultative Functional Professional in 
policy, 
managerial in 
staff 



Governance for Unitarian Universalist Congregations 16 

Governance Issues Characterized by Congregation Size 
 
Authority is usually the first issue. As we have seen, authority is congregational, but 
size influences how authority is applied. As we move from smaller to larger, the body to 
which the congregation delegates authority increases in complexity, and often in 
formality. This formality is sometimes seen as un–Unitarian Universalist, inconsistent 
with Unitarian Universalist principles and authentic congregational life. What is actually 
happening is that because about half of our congregations are family to pastoral size, 
informal systems are dominant. This commonality is mistaken for an organizational 
value, when it is actually a function of size. In a faith tradition that requires no specific 
theological creed for membership, we must be careful not to replace theological 
creedalism with organizational creedalism.  
 
Institutional focus changes with size types. It is easy to see the whole congregation 
when it spans thirty individuals in a family-size church. However, the focus of a 
program-size congregation should be on the programs that give it that name. Program 
congregations focus on rich programmatic offerings. Individuals in program-size 
congregations naturally should not be as concerned with the whole, lest they provide 
only those programs of which all members approve. A healthy, growing congregation 
need not fear change. It should study the heck out of it! Ample opportunities for 
learning are available through reading, seminars, and workshops. No congregation 
should be unaware of the governance needs appropriate to its size.  
 
Each size congregation has a focus issue. For each focus issue, there is a shadow 
issue. A corporate-size congregation, applying the Policy Governance—or any other 
governance structure—that defines desirable ends for a CEO–minister, needs to be sure 
the ends are appropriate to that congregation. A pastoral-size congregation, learning to 
accommodate the financial needs of ministry, office, some staff, and a permanent 
spiritual home, will learn the shadow lesson that these things come with a need for 
mature and generous giving. 
 
The process of engaging with governance issues—their discovery and exploration—is 
also a function of size. The relatively informal systems of a family church work because 
this church is inherently less complex and more personal by virtue of its size. Although 
the use of committees may seem a universal of congregational life, they do vary in 
structure and formality. Whereas some congregations simply "gather the willing," others 
form committees by election or by employing board selection. For these reasons, the 
word committee must be used carefully. Will it use Robert’s rules of consensus? Will it 
use modified consensus, or simply discussion? Clearly stating the rules for process up 
front and allowing reasonable effort to include diverse views are actions that contribute 
to a regard for the outcomes of governance. It is because of such clarity and care in 
process that large, or corporate-size, congregation governance can indeed be 
participatory, and the smallest congregation can be amazingly efficient and professional 
in its proceedings. Quality in governance transcends all sizes.  



Governance for Unitarian Universalist Congregations 17 

 
Less Policy Can Be Good Policy 

Boards routinely face decisions about requests for a policy. Sometimes it is possible to 
create a policy that addresses the issue at hand and puts in place a sound policy. 
However, bad policy can result from attempting to make policy in the “microsituation." 
A board that is preoccupied with the single decision before it can create policy that is 
overly narrow.  
 
Sometimes it is better not to use such decisions as occasions to make policy. In such 
cases, the board might make the decision with the proviso that it will have a 
forthcoming policy that may or may not be entirely consistent with the decision it made 
on the present specific case. The board also may decline to make a policy or simply 
refer to related policies that already exist.  

 
A recent focus upon "Policy Governance" for corporate-size congregations has included 
a focus upon board development (for example, see UUA.org and go to the Leaders’ 
Library, then search for “Policy Governance”* for a Unitarian Universalist take on the 
Carver Model of Policy Governance). Development, for a board, means being engaged 
in systematic learning about its roles and necessary skills. In that definition, the board's 
development needs are an intentional focus of board energy. But all governance 
methods require the development of their practitioners. Failure to provide that 
development focus retards the growth and quality of leadership. As a group, Unitarian 
Universalists value learning and are very capable of enhancing their abilities through 
theory and application. Therefore, it is strange that boards so often neglect their own 
learning. Board retreats, when held, are too often planning sessions that do not include 
exposure to topics relevant to the work. District seminars are often lightly attended and 
yet feature topics that are at the root of much congregational anxiety and concern. To 
take ourselves seriously as religious communities is to meet the need for learning with 
intentional focus. The agendas of board or committee meetings frequently should 
include the sharing of research, readings, or successes from other congregations. 
Leadership should presume a willingness to learn and should apply appropriate findings 
to the congregation. 
 
The challenges of creating inspirational organizational documents, which have been 
discussed, must be accompanied by the internal documentation necessary to inform 
action. Face-to-face communication may work today, but who will know what was 
decided tomorrow? Documenting, by whatever method has been chosen, is a courtesy 
to all involved. It is virtually the only way a congregation can make sense of what was 
experienced and learned. It is the only practical way to connect the experience of the 
past with the experience of the future.  
 
Board composition changes quickly. Preserving a record of what was done, and why, 
saves much rework and speculation over policy and operating decisions. These times of 



Governance for Unitarian Universalist Congregations 18 

easy electronic communication have lessened the barriers to good documentation. More 
people can be advised, included, and consulted. Therefore, we have the opportunity 
today to live out our values by keeping one another better informed.  
 
Initiative must start somewhere. The locus of this initiative varies according to size type 
and is the key to understanding how to produce action in the congregation. In each size 
of congregation, a key linkage initiates the majority (though certainly not all) of 
congregational action.  
 
In pastoral congregations, the minister and board lead together and focus on the 
whole—a change from the leader-to-member style of family-size congregations. When 
the board and minister of a pastoral-size congregation agree on a needed action, they 
generally communicate their findings to the whole congregation. This method accounts 
for an amazing amount of decision making at board meetings, which may feel 
"undemocratic" to a congregation used to participatory governance. However, this style 
of governance is quite natural and is a normal adaptation to the realities of size and the 
addition of professional ministry. It points to the need for those in the key to action 
relationship to make that process transparent, advising of the issues in play, soliciting 
input, and reporting outcomes.  
 
Each size of congregation has key relationships spurring action, and congregations of 
each size must consider how to avoid "not bringing the congregation along," a common 
error when new learning and intense transitions are under way. Consistent 
communication can help in this challenge, but communication methods also vary 
with size. For example, program-size congregations generally experience fast growth in 
communication methods. Weekly bulletins expand the reach beyond announcements. E-
mail lists and increasingly sophisticated Web sites keep congregants in touch with even 
last-minute changes in events. No pastoral-size church has quite the same need, 
because of the simpler nature of the programs. No corporate-size congregation could 
get along without such devices of communication.  
 
Whatever the congregation size, important communication principles apply. Use 
multiple methods—never less than three—to communicate information; methods may 
be visual, oral, via mail, or electronic. The governing board should supply pictures, 
stories, graphics, and statistics to explain its perspectives (especially at canvass time!). 
Redundancy in communication sends the signal that governing groups want to inform 
and encourage participation.  
 
The relative formality and norms of size types—or organization style—have been 
explored by researchers, but our leaders must study them. Members new to Unitarian 
Universalism, or those coming to congregations of sizes unfamiliar to them, will require 
orientation to both the potential strengths and potential weaknesses of size types. If we 
clearly see the benefits of each size, we can better understand the challenges. 



Governance for Unitarian Universalist Congregations 19 

Differences in governance are never wholly good or bad; they are only appropriate and 
functional or inappropriate and less functional.  
 
How does a congregation evaluate itself, and by what standards? This question is at 
the heart of governance. Whether the evaluation is about the viability of our programs 
or the relevance of our policy, it is always a question about whether our means have 
served our congregation appropriately for its size. Most congregants, when asked if 
their governance method is working well, can answer in a flash. They know the answer 
without needing much reflection. Therefore, the standards question is usually simple 
and intuitively known—and well worth the time taken to ask.  
 
Evaluations, however, require something more. They require methods to define who 
will be involved, what will be evaluated, and how the evaluations will be documented 
and conveyed. In family-size congregations, a member or committee chair may take it 
upon himself or herself to make a report to the board. In a corporate-size church, 
skilled professionals may lead such evaluations using the latest techniques. Whatever 
the means, some systematic review of governance is appropriate to all sizes of 
congregations and fosters a learning attitude in congregational life.  
 
Coordination of the governing functions of any size of congregation must then be 
adapted to the workings of the group. A family-size congregation will naturally have a 
board that carries out the church’s work—a board of "doers" as likely to perform a task 
as to consider its need. A policy board would make a grave error in jumping in to 
perform a task delegated to the minister-CEO and foul the working relationship between 
itself and the minister. The character of the organization will define what actions of 
governance are appropriate. A congregation and its governing board must be aware 
that coordination must match the organization now, not the organization of a decade 
ago. That attitude will allow wisdom to be gained and chaos to be avoided. As in most 
things, seeing reality clearly is the essential organizational strength, and this is 
especially true in the work of governance.  
 
Humanity of Governing 
 
No system of governance can long exist without the goodwill of the congregation. 
Habits of inquiry must preempt habits of judgment. Practices of consultation must 
underlie decision making, and respect for pathos must be as genuine as that for 
passion. Whatever the issues, sizes, history, or precedents may be, compassion and 
care have no equal in service to our congregational governance. The willingness of 
persons to respectfully listen and honor the other's concerns is ever the greatest 
practice of true governing of self and of religious community. It is the practice by which 
we learn to walk together in our religious journey and the practice by which we are 
transformed. 



Governance for Unitarian Universalist Congregations 20 

*Important note for searching UUA.org: All UUA resources mentioned are 
available in the Leaders section of the web site, in the Leaders’ Library. Please use 
quotes around the title when you search to bring up the resource or item you seek. 
 



Worship 
Worship Associates 
Music 
Aesthetics 

Board of 

trustees 

Minister 

Congregation 

Develop vision 
Approve budget 
Approve bylaws 

Develop programs 
Call Minister 

Committee 

on ministry 

Assesses whether the  
ministries of the church are 

meeting the needs of the 
congregation—internally 

(adult education,   
worship...) and externally 

(social justice, outreach…).  
Also to aid the  

congregation in facing  
transitions and give  

feedback to the Board and 
committees, from their  
assessments, to better 

meeting the needs of the 
congregation.  

Professional Staff 
Administration 
Director of Religious Education 
      Religious Education Council: 
 Social Justice 
 Curriculum and Teaching 
 Childcare and Safety 
 Special Events 
 Youth Programs 
 Worship  

Paraministers and 
Good Neighbors  

Liaison to Building Committee  

Liaison to Personnel Committee  

Liaison to Finance Committee  
 Financial planning and management  
 Endowment 

Establish Canvass Committee and other 
fundraising   

Program Council 
Committees:  

Adult Education  
Circle of Care   
Denominational Affairs  
Fellowship 
Internal communication 
Marriage Equality Task Force 
Membership 
Memorial Task Force 
Nominating Committee 
Partner Church 
Spiritual Practices 
Values in Action 
Van Vechten Guild 



08/18/2016

KATHY JUBA

PEOPLES CHURCH UU
4980 GORDAN AVE NW
CEDAR RAPIDS, IA 52405

Congratulations on the completion of your Small Business Energy Assessment. To assist in your energy savings
efforts, the attached assessment report includes:

Recommendations for energy‐saving measures,
A summary of estimated energy and cost savings along with available incentives, and
Links to Alliant Energy's program brochures, rebate applications and terms and conditions.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me directly, contact the program office at 1‐
888‐267‐7516 or email us at alliantsbea@clearesult.com. We’re here to help weekdays from 8:00 AM to 5:00
PM.

Sincerely,

Jeff Gorrie
Energy Assessor

Alliant Energy: Small Business Energy Assessments 1 of 18

mailto:alliantsbea@clearesult.com


SMALL BUSINESS ENERGY ASSESSMENT
ENERGY ASSESSMENT REPORT
Assessment Date: 08/18/2016

Prepared For:

KATHY JUBA
PEOPLES CHURCH UU
4980 GORDAN AVE NW
CEDAR RAPIDS, IA 52405

Prepared By:

Jeff Gorrie
CLEAResult Energy Assessor
515‐401‐5827

Alliant Energy: Small Business Energy Assessments 2 of 18



INTRODUCTION

During our visit, we have assessed your business to identify opportunities for improved comfort and lower energy
bills. Based upon your business owner’s energy bills, lifestyle, and business' existing condition, we prioritized the
recommended improvements to assist you in developing your energy action plan.

To start your savings today, your Energy Assessor may have installed some improvements that will make an
immediate impact on reducing your energy bill. Congratulations on taking this important step to improve how your
business uses energy.

Alliant Energy offers incentives for a variety of other equipment found in your business. To learn more, visit
www.alliantenergy.com/rebates.

Considering moving forward with an energy efficiency improvement? Let us know if you need assistance in finding
a participating local contractor or visit www.alliantenergy.com/dealerlocator.

In the following report you will find a summary of the Energy Assessor’s findings, recommendations for
improvements, projected annual energy savings, projected annual cost savings estimations, and anticipated
incentive on a measure‐by‐measure basis. Please note that these numbers represent the Assessors best
estimations and may be subject to change.

BUSINESS CHARACTERISTICS

Heating Fuel Natural Gas

Heating Fuel Utility MidAmerican Energy

Cooling Fuel Electric

Cooling Fuel Utility Alliant Energy

Water Heating Fuel Natural Gas

Water Heating Fuel Utility MidAmerican Energy

Facility Type Other Commercial

Ownership Own

Building Age 1959

Alliant Energy: Small Business Energy Assessments 3 of 18

https://open-assessment.clearesult.com/141222/www.alliantenergy.com/rebates
https://open-assessment.clearesult.com/141222/www.alliantenergy.com/dealerlocator


SAVINGS START HERE

EFFICIENT EQUIPMENT INSTALLED DURING ASSESSMENT
While completing your business energy audit, we performed a few simple, on‐the‐spot upgrades that have already
helped you start saving energy.

Installed Improvements Quantity Annual kWh
Savings

Annual Therms
Savings

Annual Energy Cost
Savings

LED Bulb 58 8,294 0 $1,161

Programmable
Thermostat

1 620 43 $121

Total: 60 8,914 43 $1,282

*Savings are estimated using average savings across different facility types. Your specific facility may see lower or
higher savings.

Alliant Energy: Small Business Energy Assessments 4 of 18



RECOMMENDATIONS AT A GLANCE

The following recommendations have been provided from your Small Business energy assessment. These
recommendations and their associated incentives, savings, estimates and references are intended to represent
potential outcomes. It is assumed that any improvements would be fully implemented to code and conform to all
other Alliant Energy requirements.

Recommendation Quantity Units
Annual
kWh
Savings

Annual
Therms
Savings

Annual
Energy
Cost
Savings

Estimated
Incentive

Estimated
Project
Cost

Simple
Payback
in years

Install ENERGY STAR rated
LED lamps (6‐11 watts)

12 Lamp(s) 660 0 $92 $120 $240 1.3

Install LED Fixtures
Between 31 and 100 Watts

1 Fixture(s) 356 0 $50 $50 $125 1.5

Install 18w Linear LED to
replace 4‐Lamp T12

38 Fixture(s) 8,360 0 $1,170 $1,338 $3,724 2.0

Install 18w Linear LED to
replace 2‐Lamp T12

71 Fixture(s) 7,810 0 $1,093 $1,250 $3,976 2.5

Upgrade to Central Air
Conditioner with < 65
Mbtuh SEER/EER 18/14

3 Unit(s) 6,328 0 $886 $1,950 $10,500 9.7

Totals ‐ 23,514 0 $3,292 $4,707 ‐ ‐

*To learn more and find a participating contractor call 1‐866‐857‐8782 or visit
www.alliantenergy.com/SaveEnergyAndMoney.

Alliant Energy: Small Business Energy Assessments 5 of 18

https://open-assessment.clearesult.com/141222/www.alliantenergy.com/SaveEnergyAndMoney


EXISTING BUILDING SHELL AND INSULATION CONDITIONS

Year Built 1959

Roof Construction Pitched

Roof Exterior Finish Composition Metal

Roof Exterior Surface Absorptance

Foundation Type Conditioned Basement

Conditioned Floor Area (sq. ft.) 7227

Stories Above Ground 1

Weather Stripping or Caulking Yes

Plumbing and/or Electrical Openings Sealed Yes

Exterior Doors and/or Windows Sealed Yes

Attic or Ceiling Type Unconditioned Attic

Attic Area (sq. ft.) 7227

Location Type Existing R‐Value Recommended R‐Value Sq Ft

Above Deck

Attic/ceiling Batt Fiberglass 38 38 7227

Below Deck

Foundation

Rim Joist

Wall Batt Fiberglass 20 20 7227

Alliant Energy: Small Business Energy Assessments 6 of 18



BUILDING SHELL AND INSULATION RECOMMENDATIONS

Additional Recommendations: Preventing air leakage can be one of the best improvements to make to your
windows and doors. Although many times this has more of an impact on your comfort than on utility bills, it is
still a smart upgrade because installation is usually easy and the payback is typically fast. Since you are not a
natural gas utility customer of Alliant Energy, you are not eligible for any rebates for equipment that uses
natural gas. Please reference your MidAmerican Energy report for gas savings information. Your attic and
sidewalls are properly insulated up to the latest efficiency standards so I don’t recommend any upgrades.

Alliant Energy: Small Business Energy Assessments 7 of 18



EXISTING HVAC

Equipment
Type

Size Quantity Age
Existing
Efficiency

Fuel
Type

Recommended
Efficiency

Heating System 1
Forced Air
Furnace

143
MBtuh

1 1984 AFUE 80
Natural
Gas

96

Heating System 2
Forced Air
Furnace

50
MBtuh

1 2006 AFUE 92
Natural
Gas

92

Heating System 3
Forced Air
Furnace

100
MBtuh

1 2006 AFUE 92
Natural
Gas

92

Cooling System 1 Central Air 3 Tons 1 1984 SEER 10 Electric 18

Cooling System 2 Central Air 5 Tons 3 2006 SEER 14 Electric 14

Water Heating
System 1

Tank
40
Gallons

1 2008 EF 68
Natural
Gas

68

Alliant Energy: Small Business Energy Assessments 8 of 18



HVAC RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendation Quantity Units
Annual
kWh
Savings

Annual
Therms
Savings

Annual
Energy
Cost
Savings

Estimated
Incentive

Estimated
Project
Cost

Simple
Payback
in years

Upgrade to Central Air
Conditioner with < 65 Mbtuh
SEER/EER 18/14

3 Unit(s) 6,328 0 $886 $1,950 $10,500 9.7

Totals ‐ 6,328 0 $886 $1,950 ‐ ‐

Additional Recommendations: Based off the efficiency and age of your heating system, I recommend upgrading
to high‐efficiency furnaces with an Annual Fuel Utilization Efficiency (AFUE) of 94% or greater. Heating costs
may be reduced by up to 25% with the upgrade. Since you are not a natural gas utility customer of Alliant
Energy, you are not eligible for any rebates for equipment that uses natural gas. Please reference your
MidAmerican Energy report for gas savings information. You have several air conditioning units that are low
efficiency and past their recommended life expectancy. I recommend upgrading to high‐efficiency models with a
Seasonal Energy Efficiency Ratio (SEER) of 14.5 or higher. You can save around 15% or more on operating costs
by replacing the units. Alliant Energy offers a rebate ranging from $200‐$650 depending on the qualifying
efficiency, or up to 50% of the purchase cost for the upgrade.

Alliant Energy: Small Business Energy Assessments 9 of 18



WATER HEATING RECOMMENDATIONS

Additional Recommendations: Your water heating system is high‐efficiency and within its recommended service
life so I don’t recommend any upgrades. I recommend installing an insulation jacket on your water heater.
Water heater jackets generally save around 4‐9% in energy costs by reducing the heat radiating from your tank.
Jackets for water heaters can be purchased for around $20.

Alliant Energy: Small Business Energy Assessments 10 of 18



EXISTING LIGHTING

Lighting
Opportunity

Good

Lighting Fixtures
T8 and T12 linear fluorescent lamps, incandescent and halogen lamps, metal‐halide exterior
fixtures

Upgrade Lighting
to

LED linear lamps, LED lamps, LED exterior fixtures

Alliant Energy: Small Business Energy Assessments 11 of 18



Alliant Energy: Small Business Energy Assessments 12 of 18

Install 18w Linear LED
to replace 2‐Lamp T12

71 Fixture(s) 7,810 0 $1,093 $1,250 $3,976 2.5

Install 18w Linear LED
to replace 4‐Lamp T8

2 Fixture(s) 280 0 $39 $45 $196 3.9

Totals ‐ 18,712 0 $2,620 $2,987 ‐ ‐

Additional Recommendations: Typically, approximately 40% of electricity usage in commercial buildings comes
from the lighting. I recommend replacing your linear fluorescent lights with linear LED lights. The energy savings
you can see by switching to linear LEDs can be up to 50‐75%. Linear LEDs are also more durable and last much
longer, reducing replacement costs. Alliant Energy offers a rebate of $.40 per watt reduced, based off of the
fixture or bulb replaced. The rebate is capped at 50% of the purchase price and the bulbs must be ENERGY
STAR® or DLC qualified in order to receive the rebate. I recommend replacing the existing high‐wattage High
Intensity Discharge (HID) fixtures with high‐efficiency LED fixtures. LED fixtures are up to 80% more energy
efficient, have a much longer life than traditional HID bulbs, are less fragile, and are ideal for frequent on/off
cycles due to shorter warm‐up periods. Alliant Energy offers a $100 rebate for LED fixtures greater than 100
watts, a $50 rebate for LED fixtures greater than 50 watts, and a $30 rebate for LED fixtures with wattages
less than 30. LED fixtures must be ENERGY STAR® or DLC qualified in order to be eligible for a rebate. I
recommend upgrading your incandescent and halogen bulbs to LED bulbs. The energy savings by switching to LED
can be up to 75% and the bulbs will last up to 25,000 hours, meaning replacement costs are also greatly reduced.
Alliant Energy offers a rebate of $10 per LED bulb. The bulbs must be ENERGY STAR® rated and the rebate
cannot exceed 50% of the purchase price.

LIGHTING RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendation Quantity Units
Annual
kWh
Savings

Annual
Therms
Savings

Annual
Energy
Cost
Savings

Estimated
Incentive

Estimated
Project
Cost

Simple
Payback
in years

Install ENERGY STAR
rated LED lamps (6‐11
watts)

12 Lamp(s) 660 0 $92 $120 $240 1.3

Install ENERGY STAR
rated LED lamps (16‐21
watts)

6 Lamp(s) 466 0 $65 $60 $150 1.4

Install LED Fixtures
Between 31 and 100
Watts

1 Fixture(s) 356 0 $50 $50 $125 1.5

Install 18w Linear LED
to replace 4‐Lamp T12

38 Fixture(s) 8,360 0 $1,170 $1,338 $3,724 2.0

Install 18w Linear LED
to replace 2‐Lamp T12

4 Fixture(s) 780 0 $109 $125 $392 2.4



OPERATIONAL AND MAINTENANCE RECOMMENDATIONS

The average commercial facility wastes thirty percent of its energy. If you’ve never done anything to save energy
at your building, chances are you have a lot of room to improve. In fact, it’s often possible to reduce energy use
by 10 percent with little or no cost (Source: ENERGY STAR©). The following typical opportunities may exist within
your business:

O&M Opportunities

TURNING THINGS OFF
Simple but powerful ‐ up to $100 savings on utility bill for 1,000
kWh saved through turning off electronics and appliances

Lights
• Occupancy sensors and timers can help to limit energy use in
infrequently‐used rooms (employees can also do this manually if
they notice empty rooms with running lights)

Computers and Monitors

• Desktop Power Management (DPM) software can help save
energy by enabling auto‐sleep after periods of inactivity, saving up
to $75/machine annually • Sleep cycles shouldn’t interfere with
scheduled software updates (though updates may be delayed until
after wakeup), but instructions for specific machines can be found
on US Environmental Protection Agency ENERGY STAR website

Other Office Equipment
• Printers, Faxes, and other office equipment should have energy‐
saving features – see manufacturer website for details

Other Plug Loads

• Peripherals (speakers and external disk drives) and smaller
appliances (radios and coffee pots) can often be plugged into
smart power strips with occupancy/usage sensors – even standard
power strips can be manually shut off if not in use

Space Heaters

• Heating uses more energy than most other end uses – limit
excess heating by utilizing occupancy sensors on power strips • Also
consider HVAC improvements if high space heating load indicates
poor overall system performance

Vending Machines

• Refrigerated vending machines use up to 4,400 kWh of power
per year if run full‐time, even though products often don’t need to
stay cool during unoccupied hours • By restricting cooling energy to
occupied hours or when product temperature needs to be
maintained, significant energy savings can be achieved

Alliant Energy: Small Business Energy Assessments 13 of 18



Water Coolers

• Water coolers can be a drain on energy, but timers can restrict
operation to 50‐60 hours per week, depending on occupancy •
ENERGY STAR water coolers also yield notable savings over
standard coolers

TURNING THINGS DOWN
For equipment that cannot be fully turned off, strategically
minimizing use is still a powerful way to achieve energy savings

HVAC Temperature Setbacks

• Temperatures can be set warmer in the summer and cooler in
the winter when the office is not in use • Programmable
thermostats allow temperature changes to take effect
automatically during non‐business hours

Peripheral and Back Rooms
• Rooms such as temporary offices and supply closets, with
intermittent and short‐term occupancy, can have HVAC settings
minimized to avoid using energy in empty spaces

Window Shades and Blinds
• Heating and cooling load can be reduced by manipulating blinds
to maximize sunlight in winter and shading in summer

CLEANING AND MAINTENANCE
Regular cleaning and maintenance can help to optimize HVAC
system performance and save on energy bills

Check the Economizer

• An economizer increases air conditioner efficiency by venting in
cooler outside air when available – if the vents become stuck open,
they can let in hot air during the summer and cold air during the
winter, greatly increasing energy bills • Have the economizer
checked and cleaned annually to keep it running at peak condition,
replacing when necessary

Check AC Temperatures

• The temperature difference between the return air going to the
AC unit and the air coming out of the register nearest the AC unit
should be between 14 and 22 degrees Fahrenheit – check the
temperatures with a standard thermometer and have a licensed
technician come to inspect your system if the temperature falls
outside this range

Change the Filters
• Replace filters when dirty, generally every one‐to‐six months
(likely sooner when the economizer is running more frequently)

Check the Cabinet Panels
• Check rooftop AC units quarterly to ensure panels are fully
attached and no air is leaking out, which could cost up to $100 per
year, per unit

Clean the Condenser Coils
• Check condenser coils quarterly for excessive debris buildup,
washing the coils before and after each cooling season

Check the Airflow
• Test airflow by placing your hand or a sheet of paper in front of
registers – if airflow seems limited, or if dirt and dust are
prevalent, have a technician inspect the ductwork and unit

Alliant Energy: Small Business Energy Assessments 14 of 18



TYPICAL BUSINESS ENERGY END USE

The following chart displays a typical disaggregation profile for a Other Commercial building in your area. The
disaggregation takes into account all fuel consumption of a facility and determines what percentage of the
total is consumed by each major end use. In an other commercial environment, the majority of energy
consumption occurs from heating while water heating for sinks consumes the smallest percentage.

Other Commercial

Cooling

Heating

Vent

Water Heat

Lighting

Cooking

Refrigeration

Office Equipment

Computers

Other

63%

13%4%

16%

Alliant Energy: Small Business Energy Assessments 15 of 18



ANNUAL ENERGY USAGE

Annual consumption patterns occur from weather, facility occupancy, and economic factors. In the past year,
your facility consumed 23,320 kWh of electricity and 0 therms of natural gas. By plotting the month‐by‐month
consumption on a graph, patterns begin to emerge.

Annual Energy Usage Profile

0.0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.0

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

Natural Gas (therms)

Electric (kWh)

Alliant Energy: Small Business Energy Assessments 16 of 18



GENERAL REPORT COMMENTS

Program offerings, availability and incentive levels are subject to change at any time. The report
recommendations provided are based upon assumptions and interpretations of information and access provided at
the time of the assessment.

Please visit www.alliantenergy.com/saveenergyandmoney for additional information, requirements and terms of
participation. Alliant Energy reserves the right to change the program without notice; however, proceeding with
energy efficiency improvements is still beneficial for your facility operations and often results in both energy and
operating cost savings. During the assessment, additional measures that may not qualify for rebates or incentives
may also have been identified as potential opportunities, and these recommendations should also be considered for
improvements.

Alliant Energy: Small Business Energy Assessments 17 of 18

https://open-assessment.clearesult.com/141222/www.alliantenergy.com/saveenergyandmoney


Owner/Tenant Approval:

ACCEPTANCE

Assessor:

I hereby acknowledge the energy efficient items listed above were satisfactorily installed according to the
program standards.

Assessor Name: Jeff Gorrie
Assessor Signature:

Customer:
By requesting an energy assessment at this facility, I am providing program representatives with
permission to analyze the historical energy usage data to assist in providing recommendations and
education on energy savings opportunities.

I hereby acknowledge an energy assessment of my business was completed and the energy efficient items
listed above were satisfactorily installed in my business. I understand Alliant Energy reserves the right to
audit my rebate application and if requested, I will allow Alliant Energy representatives reasonable access
to verify the installation of qualifying measures.

Customer Name: KATHY JUBA
Customer Signature:

‐‐ Authorize

By checking this box, I, the Tenant, confirm that I have previously been provided Landlord approval and
decision making ability within my occupied space, and I authorize Alliant Energy and CLEAResult to
proceed with their program offerings based upon this agreement, thus waiving additional Landlord
approval.

Alliant Energy: Small Business Energy Assessments 18 of 18



J F M A M J J A S O N D
2014 therms na na 390 153 75 5 6 5 17 87 287 448
2015 therms 562 582 361 153 47 7 5 5 5 51 232 373
2016 therms 576 448 255 166 77 6 4 na na na na na

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

J F M A M J J A S O N D

Th
er

m
s

months

MidAmerican Gas Usage

2014 therms 2015 therms 2016 therms



J F M A M J J A S O N D
2014 kWh na na 2220 2220 2100 1800 3000 2820 2880 2640 2280 2700
2015 kWh 2880 2640 2280 1740 1380 1140 1680 2280 1680 1800 1380 1680
2016 kWh 2220 2040 2400 1920 2160 1560 2220 na na na na na

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

J F M A M J J A S O N D

kW
h

months

Alliant Electricity Usage

2014 kWh 2015 kWh 2016 kWh


	2016-September-Board-Meeting-Minutes
	PCUU Board of Trustees Monthly Meeting Minutes
	PCUU Board of Trustees Monthly Meeting Minutes

	PCUU-Minister-Board-Report-September-2016
	PCUU-DRE-Board-Report-September-2016
	PCUU-Admin-Board-Report-September-2016-edits
	2016-Sept-PCUU-Tree-Report-Summary
	Governance-for-UU-Congregations
	PCUU-church-structure-2010
	PCUU-Alliant-Energy-Assessment-Report-Sept2016
	PCUU-Utilities-Graph-Sept2016



